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For the Fifth Crcuit
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Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS
ANEZ SUTHERLAND ROBI NSON

a/ k/a "Dave",
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Northern District of Texas

(3:91- CV- 2709- H(3- 89- CR- 365-H) )
(June 2, 1994)

Bef ore GARWOOD, SM TH and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *
BACKGROUND

Anez Sut herl and Robi nson pleaded guilty to Count 1 of a 28-

count indictnment charging himwi th conspiracy to distribute cocaine

" Local Rule 47.5 provides: "The publication of opinions
t hat have no precedential value and nerely decide particular
cases on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw inposes
needl ess expense on the public and burdens on the |egal
profession.” Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned
that this opinion should not be published.



and cocai ne base. Robinson was sentenced to a termof inprisonnent
of 320 nont hs.

According to the factual resunme generated in connection with
the plea agreenent, Robinson "was involved with several other
persons who were involved in the distribution of cocaine base" in
Dallas. Additionally, the factual resune indicated "Robi nson knew
t hese persons were involved in the distribution of cocai ne base and
performed acts which aided them in furtherance of these
activities." Robinson obtained apartnents in Dallas in his nane or
in the nanmes of friends for use by nenbers of the conspiracy in
operating their drug distribution business. The apartnents were
used by the co-conspirators to prepare drugs for distribution, to
store cocaine, and to collect, count, and store noney received from
drug sal es. Robi nson al so secured utilities service, including
t el ephone service, in his nane or in the nane of friends.
Robi nson was t he owner of an apartnment conplex in Dallas which was
the | ocation of one of the principal crack houses used by the co-
conspirators for distributing cocai ne base.

At the rearraignnment, the district court refused to accept a
pl ea of nol o contendere. Robinson denied that he was involved in
the distribution of drugs and stated that he had been unaware that
his activities were illegal. The district court then asked
Robi nson whether he had agreed with other persons to distribute

cocai ne and crack. Robi nson said "no." The district court
recessed the hearing to gi ve Robi nson an opportunity to confer with

hi s attorney. After the recess and before accepting Robinson's



guilty plea, Robinson admtted when questioned by the district
court that he had perfornmed acts which aided persons involved in
t he distribution of cocaine base. The district court directed the
Assistant United States Attorney ("AUSA") to read each paragraph of
the factual resune into the record and Robi nson agreed that each
paragraph was factually correct.

Robi nson immgrated from Jamaica and has a third-grade
education. Robinson's attorney advised the district court that,
not wi t hst andi ng Robi nson' s | ack of sophistication, he was satisfied
that Robinson wunderstood the <charge against him and the
consequences of his guilty plea.

Robi nson sought to set aside his guilty plea pursuant to 28
U S.C. 8§ 2255. Robinson's § 2255 noti on was deni ed by the district
court. This Court previously granted Robinson's application for
| eave to proceed in forma pauperis on appeal .

OPI NI ON

Robi nson contends that he is innocent and that he should be
permtted to enter a new pl ea because the district court failed to
ascertai n whet her he understood the nature of the charge to which

he pleaded guilty in violation of Fed. R Cim P. 11(c).! Under

IOdinarily, if a defendant alleges a fundanental
constitutional error, he may not raise the issue for the first
time in a 8§ 2255 notion w thout show ng both "cause" for his
procedural default and that "actual prejudice" resulted fromthe
error." US. v. Shaid, 937 F.2d 228, 232 (5th GCr. 1991), cert.
denied, 112 S. . 978 (1992). In this case, however, the
Gover nnent has not invoked the procedural bar. See U.S. v.
Drobny, 955 F.2d 990, 995 (5th Gr. 1992). Although the
Governnent's notion to dismss is not part of the record on
appeal, the magi strate judge recommended di sm ssal on the nerits
and did not address the cause and prejudice issue. Presumably,
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Rule 11(c)(1), "[Db]Jefore accepting a plea of guilty or nolo
contendere, the court nust address the defendant personally in open
court and i nformthe defendant of, and determ ne that the defendant
understands, the followng: (1) the nature of the charge to which
the plea is offered . . . ." Fed. R Cim P. 11(c)(1). Wth
respect to this requirenent, the Court has refused to "state a

sinple or nechanical rule." United States v. Dayton, 604 F. 2d 931,

937-38 (5th Gr. 1979) (en banc), cert. denied, 445 U. S. 904, and

cert. denied, 445 U S. 971 (1980). | nstead, the application of
this aspect of Rule 11 is commtted to the "good judgnent” of the
district court, based upon the conplexity of the charges and the
sophi stication of the defendant.

Al t hough the district court was careful to ascertain whether
Robi nson adm tted to the facts set forth in the factual resune, it
did not question Robinson adequately regarding the application of
those facts to the charge of conspiracy. |f the case had gone to
trial, the Governnent would have been required to prove the
exi stence of an agreenent between two or nore persons to violate

the drug | aws, and Robi nson's know edge of, intention to join, and

voluntary participation in the agreenent. United States v.

Pruneda- Gonzal ez, 953 F.2d 190, 194 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 112

S. O. 2952 (1992). For Robinson to admt that he know ngly
commtted acts which aided others in the distribution of cocaine
base is not the sane as admtting that know ngly and voluntarily

participated in an agreenent to distribute cocai ne base.

therefore, the Governnent did not invoke the procedural bar.
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[ Mere know edge of the illegal activities of another is
not enough to support an inference of an agreenent to
join a conspiracy. Even active assistance is not always
sufficient. One may know of, and assist (even
intentionally), a substantive crine without joining a
conspiracy to commt the crinme--wtness the | andl ord who

rents to an illegal ganbling den, and the retailer who
sells sugar to one he knows will use it to nmake bootl eg
whi skey.

United States v. Pedigo, 12 F. 3d 618, 625 (7th Cr. 1993) (enphasis

supplied, internal quotations and citations omtted); see also

United States v. Htsman, 604 F.2d 443, 446 (5th Gr. 1979)

(evidence that |l andlord rented garage to tenant with know edge t hat
tenant intended to use garage to manufacture nethanphetam ne and
that landlord received drug fromtenant, used, and sold it to a
third-person, was sufficient to support Ilandlord s conspiracy
convi ction).

Clains that a district court has failed to conply with Rule 11

are reviewed for harnmless error. United States v. Johnson, 1 F.3d

296, 298 (5th Cr. 1993) (en banc).

To determ ne whether a Rule 11 error is harnmess (i.e.,
whet her the error affects substantial rights), we focus
on whet her t he def endant’' s knowl edge and conpr ehensi on of
the full and correct information would have been |ikely
to affect his willingness to plead guilty. St at ed
anot her way, we "exam ne the facts and circunstances of
the . . . case to see if the district court's flawed
conpliance with . . . Rule 11 . . . may reasonably be
viewed as having been a material factor affecting
[ defendant]'s decision to plead guilty."

ld. at 302 (citation omtted). "Relief froma formal or technica
violation of Rule 11 is not available under a § 2255 coll atera

attack." United States v. Arnstrong, 951 F.2d 626, 629 (5th Cr

1992). Inthis Grcuit, "8 2255 relief for a violation of Rule 11
is available only upon a showi ng of prejudice by the defendant."”
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Id. Robinson was prejudiced "if he entered a plea of guilty to a
crime which, based on the facts developed in the record, he did not

actually commt." 1d. (citing United States v. Briggs, 939 F. 2d

222, 227-28 (5th Cr. 1991) (en banc)). |If Robinson pleaded guilty
to a crine which he did not actually conmt, then the failure of
the district court to ascertain whether Robinson understood the
nature of the charge should not be regarded as harnl ess.

The probation officer reported that Robi nson delivered crack
cocaine with Roy Plumer froma stash house or storage house during
a three nonth periodin 1988. PSR Y 10. 1In response to Robi nson's
obj ection to paragraph 10, the probation officer stated that the
information was obtained from the governnent and investigative
agents. Agents were prepared to testify regarding Robinson's
activities and provide statenents supplied by codefendants
regardi ng Robi nson. PSR Addendum 2.

The probation officer also reported that Robinson purchased
ounce quantities of powder cocai ne and di stributed several hundred
dollars worth of crack cocaine after February 1989. PSR  11.
Patricia Pol k acconpani ed Robi nson when he purchased quantities of
cocaine and when he delivered cocaine to the crack houses.
Robi nson and Polk were arrested in Septenber 1989 when Robi nson
attenpted to purchase one kil ogram of cocaine for $19,000. In an
earlier neeting, Robinson had agreed to purchase two kil ograns of
cocai ne for $40,000. 1d. Robinson objected to paragraph 11 and
argued that he had been "set up" and "entrapped" by investigating

agents. The probation officer stated that investigating agents



were prepared to testify to the facts stated in paragraph 11: "The

fact remai ns that Robinson did attenpt to purchase cocai ne froman

investigating officer and was arrested at that tine." PSR
Addendum 2.
Robert H mmel , and agent for the Immgration and

Nat ural i zati on Service, testified at the sentenci ng hearing that he
had wor ked on the Organi zed Cri me Drug Enforcenent Task Force which
i nvestigated the conspiracy. H mel's testinony was based upon his
know edge of the reports and investigatory materials conpiled by
the Governnent. H nmel testified that co-conspirators Sheila
Wllians, Darren Bernard, and Roy Plumer had told other
i nvestigators that Robinson had delivered cocaine to crack houses
and ot her | ocations. Robinson directed people to deliver drugs to
certain | ocations, personally drove co-conspirators to and fromthe
airport, received noney, and supplied persons outside of the
conspiracy. H mel testified that he was aware of the Dallas
Pol i ce Departnent investigation | eadingto Robinson's arrest at the
time of the purchase of the one kilogramquantity. H mel admtted
on cross-exam nation that he had only observed Robinson go to the
Parnell Street apartnent house (a buil di ng Robi nson owned) on two
occasions over a two or three nonth period of "on and off"
surveillance. Hi mel had no personal know edge that other officers
had observed Robinson go to the building during that period.
Al t hough several co-conspirators had told himthat Robi nson nmade
deliveries to the crack houses, Robinson admtted that he had not

conducted the interviews on which his testinony was based. He knew



of no officer who had personal know edge regarding Robinson's
transportation of co-conspirators to the airport. That testinony
was based upon statenments of co-conspirators. The district court
found that the Governnent had established that Robinson made
frequent deliveries of crack cocai ne.

Al t hough H mmel ' s testinony was equi vocal , the Gover nnent was
prepared to prove that Robinson's involvenent in the conspiracy

extended well beyond his role as landlord. See Hitsnman, 604 F.2d

at 446. Therefore, this case does not present a situation in which
t he defendant pleaded guilty to a crinme which he did not actually
comm t. The district court's failure to question Robinson nore
t horoughly on t he questi on whet her he understood t he application of
the elenents of the crine of conspiracy to the facts of his case
cannot reasonably be regarded as having played a substantial role
inhis decisionto plead guilty. Therefore, the error was harnl ess
and does not provide a basis for relief.

Li beral ly construed, Robinson's pl eadings raise the question
whet her his guilty plea was know ngly and voluntarily entered.

In order for aguilty pleato satisfy the requirenents of

due process, the plea nust constitute an intelligent

adm ssion of the comm ssion of the offense based on the

recei pt of real notice of the true nature of the charge.

The def endant nmust have a full understandi ng of what the

pl ea connotes; in particular, she nust possess an

understanding of the law in relation to the facts. A

plea is not voluntary if the accused has such an

i nconpl ete understanding of the charge that his plea

cannot stand as an intelligent adm ssion of quilt.
Briggs, 939 F.2d at 227-28 (internal quotations and footnotes

omtted); accord Henderson v. Miyrgan, 426 U. S. 637, 645, 96 S. C

2253, 49 L. Ed. 2d 108 (1976). |If the record shows that defense
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counsel explained the nature of the offense to the defendant or
t hat the defendant ot herw se understood the charge, the failure of
the trial court to explain those el enents does not render the plea

i nvoluntary. Henderson, 426 U. S. at 647; Davis v. Butler, 825 F. 2d

892, 893 (5th Cir. 1987).

The defendant in Briggs pleaded guilty to a crinme which she
| ater understood not to enconpass her conduct. 1d. at 228. The
factual resune di scl osed no evidence on an essential el enent of the
crime of conviction and the record did not negate the allegations
made by the defendant in her 8 2255 notion. 1d. Therefore, the
Court remanded with instructions to the district court to hold a
hearing to determne whether the defendant's guilty plea was
unknowi ngly and unintelligently entered. 1d. at 228.

In the instant case, Robi nson contends that he was not advi sed
and did not understand that an "agreenent" to pursue an illega
objective is an essential elenent of the crinme of conspiracy.
Unlike in Briggs, however, the record in the instant case negates
this allegation. At the rearraignnent, the district court asked
Robi nson's attorney whether Robinson understood the indictnent.
The attorney responded that he had many di scussi ons with Robi nson
regarding the factual clains contained in the indictnent. The
attorney stated, "Although M. Robinson has a limted fornal
education | believe that he does have a full understandi ng of the
of fense and the nature of the offense alleged in the Governnent's
indictment." At the district court's request, the AUSA read from

t he i ndictnent:



"Fromat |east in or about April 1988 and conti nui ng
thereafter to on or about the date of the return of this
indictnent, in the Dallas Dy vision of the northern
District of Texas, and el sewhere, Peter LlIoyd Atkinson,
al so known as "Squally", Prince Anthony Edwards, Mark
Pol | ack, Anez Sut herl and Robi nson, al so known as "Dave",
Byron Sanuels Cassell Solonon Wl ker, also known as
"Cassette", al so known as "Cass", Roy Plummer, al so known
as Gfford Pl umer, al so known as "Bully", Darren Ant hony
Bernard, also known as "Shorty", Eve Veronica Mtthews,
al so known as "Princess", Wnston Gary Thomas, al so known
as "Blacka", Wnston Anthony Wight, Patricia Pol k and
Sheila Alemetra WIIians, def endant s, know ngl v,
intentionally did conbine, conspire, confederate and
agree toget her and with each other and with other persons
known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses
against the United States, that is the distribution of
cocaine . . . and cocaine base, . . . and the possession
with intent to distribute cocaine . . . in violation of
Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(1)."

The record does not support Robinson's allegation that his guilty
pl ea was unknowi ngly and unintelligently entered.

Robi nson argues in his reply brief that his attorney rendered
i neffective assistance by urging himto plead guilty to a crine he
did not conmt. As was previously discussed, the record reflects
that the Governnent was prepared to prove that Robi nson engaged in
conspiracy to distribute cocaine base. |In exchange for his plea,
Counts 4 and 20 through 24 were di sm ssed. Robinson has failed to
overcone the strong presunption that counsel's strategy and tactics
fell wwthin the "w de range of reasonabl e professional assistance"
consistent with the Sixth Anmendnent right to counsel. See

Strickland v. Washi ngton, 466 U. S. 668, 689, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.

Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Accordingly, Robinson has failed to carry his

burden under the first prong of the Strickland test. See id. at

687-88 (requiring showng that counsel's actions were (1)
obj ectively unreasonable and (2) prejudiced the outcone).
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